# RECEIVED 04-04-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2011AP002548-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LUIS ROCHA MAYO,

**Defendant-Appellant**.

#### **BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED NOVEMBER 5, 2010 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KENOSHA COUNTY The Honorable Wilbur W. Warren, III, Presiding Trial Court Case Nos. 2008CF000660

Respectfully submitted:

ANDEREGG & ASSOCIATES Post Office Box 170258 Milwaukee, WI 53217-8021 (414) 963-4590

By: Rex R. Anderegg State Bar No. 1016560 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

# **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. WHETHER IT WAS ERROR TO ALLOW THE STATE TO PRESENT EVIDENCE OF A PBT RESULT IN THIS MOTOR VEHICLE PROSECUTION.

The trial court answered: No.

II. WHETHER IT WAS ERROR TO INSTRUCT THE JURY IT COULD FIND, BASED SOLELY ON A *QUALITATIVE* PBT RESULT, THAT ROCHA MAYO WAS INTOXICATED AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT.

The trial court answered: No.

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED A STATE EXPERT WITNESS TO TESTIFY AS TO AN ULTIMATE FACT THAT EMBRACED A LEGAL CONCEPT FOR WHICH A DEFINITIONAL INSTRUCTION WAS REQUIRED.

The trial court answered: No.

#### IV. WHETHER IT WAS ERROR TO ALLOW THE JURY TO HEAR ROCHA MAYO HAD NOT OBTAINED THE LEGAL DRINKING AGE.

The trial court answered: No.

#### V. WHETHER IT WAS ERROR TO BAR THE JURY FROM HEARING THAT THE VICTIM DID NOT HAVE A MOTORCYCLE ENDORSEMENT.

The trial court answered: No.

VI. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO AN EXPERT A C C I D E N T R E C O N S T R U C T I O N I S T 'S TESTIMONY AND OPINIONS REGARDING THE ACCIDENT AND WHO WAS AT FAULT WHEN SAID TESTIMONY AND OPINIONS WERE BASED ON REPORTS OF OTHERS WHO DID NOT TESTIFY.

The trial court answered: No.

#### **STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION**

The appellant believes this Court's opinion will meet the criteria for publication, insofar as the first two issues present legal questions of first impression.

#### **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT**

The appellant does not believe oral argument will be necessary in this appeal as the briefs should sufficiently explicate the facts and law necessary for this Court to reach a decision.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 12, 2008, the defendant-appellant, Luis Rocha Mayo, was involved in an automobile accident when the Ford Taurus he was driving rear-ended a suddenly-braking motorcycle in front of him. (R136-25). The motorcyclist died as a result of the accident. (R133-5). Thus, on June 23, 2008, the plaintiff-respondent, State of Wisconsin, filed a criminal complaint charging Rocha Mayo with: (1) first degree reckless homicide; (2) first degree recklessly endangering safety; and (3) operating a motor vehicle without a valid license and causing the death of another person. (R1). Rocha Mayo made his initial appearance and bond was set at \$100,000 cash. (R113-4). On July 2, 2008, following a preliminary hearing, Rocha Mayo was bound over for trial. (R114-62). On July 22, 2008, he pled "not guilty." (R114-62; R115).

On February 11, 2009, the State requested leave to amend the Information to add a count of Homicide by Intoxicated Use of a Motor Vehicle. (R29). This prompted Rocha Mayo, on February 23, 2009, to request that Judge Schroeder recuse himself. (R30). The basis for the motion was that at a previous hearing, the judge had asked the district attorney why the State had not charged Rocha Mayo with Homicide by Intoxicated Use of a Motor Vehicle. (R31; R141-10-14). Judge Schroeder apparently had gone so far as to opine that a Preliminary Breath Test (PBT) taken from Rocha Mayo at the hospital would be admissible at trial because it had been administered by medical personnel, not police. (*Id.*). On February 24, 2009, conceding he had made the remarks, Judge Schroeder recused himself. (*Id*.). Thereafter, Rocha Mayo filed a motion to suppress the PBT results. (R35).

On April 23, 2009, the court heard the State's motion to amend the information. (R123). The court granted the motion, conditioned on the State presenting expert testimony as to the state of intoxication, whether with or without a PBT result. (R123-80-82). The State filed an amended information adding a fourth count against Rocha Mayo: Homicide by Intoxicated Use Of A Motor Vehicle. (R37).

On June 29, August 4, and August 12, 2009, the court conducted hearings on whether the State would be permitted to introduce evidence of the PBT result. (R124; R125; R126). At the conclusion of the hearings, the court ruled that evidence of the PBT result would be allowed at trial. (R126-35). On August 28, 2009, the trial court entered an order denying Rocha Mayo's motion to suppress the results of the PBT.<sup>1</sup> (R42).

On July 26, 2010, the jury trial began. (R131). At the outset, Rocha Mayo pled guilty to operating without a valid driver's license, causing the death of another person, resolving that charge. (R131-3-9). The evidentiary portion of the trial lasted approximately four days. (R132-R135). So did the jury deliberations. (R136-R139). On August 5, 2010, following four

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>An interlocutory appeal by Rocha Mayo was denied as was a subsequent motion for reconsideration filed with the trial court in the wake of *State v. Fischer*, 2010 WI 6, 322 Wis. 2d 265, 778 N.W.2d 629. (R53; R130-5).

days of arduous deliberations nearly resulting in a hung jury, guilty verdicts were returned on the remaining three counts. (R139-5-6).

On November 4, 2010, the court sentenced Rocha Mayo to concurrent sentences, with the controlling sentence consisting of ten years of initial confinement. (R140-68-69). On August 19, 2011, Rocha Mayo filed a post-conviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. (R108). On October 20, 2011, the court conducted a *Machner* hearing and denied the motion. (R142-25-28). This appeal followed. (R112).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### A. The Events Leading To A Fatal Accident.

On June 12, 2008, at approximately 7:00 p.m., Rocha Mayo and two cousins were relaxing in his home and enjoying a few beers. (R136-10-11). They remained there until about 9:00 p.m. during which time Rocha Mayo consumed a total of two to three beers. (R136-10-11). At 9:00 p.m., the three cousins headed over to El Rodeo Bar. (R136-11-12). Rocha Mayo drove himself to the bar and arrived just after 9:00 p.m. (R136-11-12, 32). His cousins went in a separate vehicle and arrived shortly thereafter. (R136-11-12, 32). El Rodeo was located at the corner of 14<sup>th</sup> Avenue and 52<sup>nd</sup> Street in Kenosha. (R136-14).

Rocha Mayo remained at El Rodeo until shortly after 2:00 a.m., and over those five hours consumed five beers and ordered a sixth. (R136-13). At 2:00 a.m., Rocha bought two six packs of beer at the bar to take home with him and left. (R136-14, 32). He put the packaged beer in the back seat of his green Ford Taurus which was parked in the bar's parking lot. (R136-14). Rocha Mayo still had the sixth beer in his hand and put it in a cup holder in the console of his car. (R136-14).

Rocha Mayo exited the parking lot and turned westbound onto 52<sup>nd</sup> Street, a main Kenosha thoroughfare running from Lake Michigan to I-94 and which, at all times material, had two lanes of travel in each direction. (R136-15). Rocha Mayo first entered the left lane of westbound 52<sup>nd</sup> Street before changing into the right lane. (R136-40). He did not feel intoxicated and Rosie Finley, who operated El Rodeo and knew Rocha Mayo, testified she did not detect any signs of intoxication when she saw him leave near bar time. (R134-189-200; R136-26).

Rocha Mayo traveled just six blocks before, as they say, the trouble began. Three motorcycles emerged from a parking lot by Coins Tavern on the north side of 52<sup>nd</sup> Street (i.e., to Rocha Mayo's right), around 20<sup>th</sup> Avenue. (R114-6, 23; R132-153; R136-16). The first motorcycle out of the lot was a 2008 Harley Street Glide carrying two individuals, a man and a woman, and it merged into the right westbound lane directly *in front of* Rocha Mayo. (R132-147-148; R136-16). The male, who was operating the cycle, was Curtis Martin. (R114-8). The woman seated behind Martin was Shaunna Bestwick (hereinafter, "Shaunna"). (*Id.*).

Two other motorcycles then emerged from the bar *behind* Rocha Mayo. (R136-16). One of these individuals was Shaunna's brother, Travis Bestwick (hereinafter, Bestwick). (R132-145). Bestwick was on a Harley Road King, a cycle that actually belonging to Martin. (R132-205). Bestwick was riding Martin's Road King because he had allowed Martin to drive his 2008 Harley Street Glide. (R132-148). The swap was made because Martin was carrying Bestwick's sister and the Street Glide had a backrest and was better suited for two riders. (R132-148).

The third cyclist, who also came out *behind* Rocha Mayo alongside Bestwick, was Jason Walters. (R132-147-149, 202). Walters was riding a Suzuki Hayabusa 1300, a kind of cycle referred to as "a crotch rocket." (R132-147-149, 202). Walters, the dark figure in this story, was proud of his cycle's speed, and

made sure the jury knew it had been recognized in the *Guinness Book of World Records* as the fastest production bike in history. (R132-237). Tucked into Walter's waistband, so it would always be, in his words, "accessible," was an expandable metal baton. (R132-238). Officer Dusty Nichols testified the black collapsible baton was classified as a weapon, and was a "friction" baton, meaning it opened with a flick of the wrist. (R134-96-97).

The three motorcycles had been riding as a group and Rocha Mayo apparently happened by at precisely the wrong moment, breaking the group into two, and Walters apparently perceived this as an unpardonable slight. Whatever his motive, Walters quickly came up alongside the driver's window of Rocha Mayo's westbound car and began yelling at him and furtively gesturing for him to pull over. (R136-16-17). Walter's shouting must have been loud because it caused Martin and Shaunna, who were still westbound in front of Rocha Mayo, to look back and see Walters yelling at Rocha Mayo. (R136-19).

Shaunna conceded she heard someone from their group yell something like "what the F-U-C-K . . . is [your] problem" at Rocha Mayo. (R132-172). Rocha Mayo also noticed that Martin and Shaunna turned their heads to look back. (*Id.*). Rocha Mayo further noticed that Martin then reacted by turning off onto 25<sup>th</sup> Avenue, and then using the width of that intersection to maneuver his Harley Street Glide *behind* Rocha Mayo. (R136-19). Indeed, Martin testified he moved to the right and used the width of 25<sup>th</sup> Avenue to slow/stop his cycle so Rocha Mayo would pass him, whereupon he renegotiated his cycle back onto 52<sup>nd</sup> Street *behind* Rocha Mayo. (R132-183; R136-109-111).

At this point, Rocha Mayo testified, he sensed Walters and the other cycles were looking for trouble and the situation felt threatening. (R136-18). Realizing he now had three cycles around him, and believing them all in a mood to harm him, Rocha Mayo did not pull over as demanded by Walters. (R136-18-19). Instead, Rocha Mayo resolved to continue on to his house, which would require him to remain on 52<sup>nd</sup> Street until turning right onto 40<sup>th</sup> Avenue. (R136-19). He therefore continued westbound at the approximate speed limit, simply hoping to get home for the evening. (R136-19-21).

Walters, however, had other plans. First, he reached into his jacket with his right hand, pulled out his collapsible baton, and flicked it open with his wrist. (R132-233-234). Walters then accelerated his "world record" speed bike toward Rocha Mayo's car to pass him on the left hand side. (R132-233-234; R136-19). As he came up on Rocha Mayo's vehicle, Walters launched the metal baton at the car's rear window while traveling at a high rate of speed. (*Id.*). The baton was thrown with such force that it passed through and shattered the rear window and ended up on the floorboard of the front passenger seat. (R134-86, 93). A hail of glass fragments blew throughout the front and back of the car. (R134-93).Walters and Bestwick continued accelerating and simultaneously flew past Rocha Mayo's vehicle on the left hand side. (136-19, 79).

From Rocha Mayo's perspective, his premonition of danger became a rude reality when his rear window suddenly

exploded while two motorcycles flew by him on the left. (R136-19). The explosion caused Rocha Mayo to momentarily duck and he was convinced he was going to get hit. (R123-56; R136-20). When Rocha Mayo regained his wits, he instinctively sped up his car, because there was another cycle behind him, in addition to the two cycles now in front of him, and he was scared. (R136-20). Although he was still in the right lane and somewhere in the vicinity of 30<sup>th</sup> and 33<sup>rd</sup> Avenues at the time, he decided not to turn off on 40<sup>th</sup> Avenue to go home because he did not want the cyclists to learn where he lived. (R136-22, 42, 45).

At approximately 2:06 a.m., City of Kenosha Police Officer Shaun Morton happened to be in the parking lot of Felicia's Restaurant, on the south side of  $52^{nd}$  Street near  $43^{rd}$  Avenue, when he saw two motorcycles and a green Ford pass westbound at an estimated speed of 70-80 MPH. (R133-46-50, 62). The cycles were traveling in single file and the Ford was 3-4 car lengths behind them, traveling at the same speed. (R133-49-53). Traffic was light to medium. (*Id.*). Officer Morton notified dispatch, turned on his lights and siren, and took off after the vehicles. (R133-51-52).

As the cycles and the Ford continued westbound at a high rate of speed, Rocha Mayo, in all the confusion, believed the Harley Street Glide, with Martin at the helm, was still behind him on 52<sup>nd</sup> Street. (R136-20). In fact, Martin and Shaunna had turned off at 39<sup>th</sup> Avenue, likely after witnessing Walters shatter the rear window of Rocha Mayo's vehicle. At trial, Shaunna conceded they turned off at 39<sup>th</sup> Avenue, after stopping there for a red light, but denied it had anything to do with what was

transpiring between the other vehicles. (R132-168-169). On the contrary, Shaunna claimed, from their vantage point at the red light, they could see Bestwick's taillight and hear his loud tail pipes and decided everything was fine. (R132-168-169). They then turned north on 39<sup>th</sup> Avenue and went home, which would account for why Officer Morton did not see *a third* motorcycle pass by Felicia's restaurant, although this was not known to Rocha Mayo. (*Id.*).

As the other three vehicles continued speeding westbound on 52<sup>nd</sup> Street, some disaster, at some point, was bound to occur. That point turned out to be the intersection with North Green Bay Road. As the vehicles approached that intersection, the stop light for westbound traffic was red, although fortunately, no cross traffic was immediately coming. (R133-170). Also free of any traffic were the westbound lanes, which widened from two to four westbound lanes, first with a longer dedicated left turn lane, and later with a shorter dedicated right turn lane. (*Id.*; R135-20). Again, Rocha Mayo believed he still had a third cycle behind him. (R136-224).

As the vehicles neared the intersection, Bestwick and Walters, via hand signals, but unbeknownst to Rocha Mayo, had decided to attempt a right turn onto North Green Bay Road, a maneuver the State's accident investigator agreed would have been impossible. (R132-218-219; R134-79). Rocha Mayo was still in the right hand lane and from his perspective, Walters and Bestwick were in front of him, but off to the left. (R136-22). Suddenly, Walters braked, but then decided the turn would be impossible, and would up sliding/stopping into the intersection. (R136-23). Bestwick, however, suddenly turned to the right in

front of Rocha Mayo's vehicle and braked. (R136-22-24). Rocha Mayo could not react quickly enough to avoid striking Bestwick from behind. (R136-25). Trooper Michael Smith, the State's accident reconstruction expert, testified that if Rocha Mayo was between 75 and 125 feet behind the motorcycles, at 70 MPH he would have had somewhere between .75 and 1.25 *seconds* to react to this unexpected development.<sup>2</sup> (R135-66-68).

Officer Morton did not witness the collision, but upon arrival at Green Bay Road, having traversed the 20 blocks from Felicia's Restaurant, immediately realized one had occurred. (R133-53, 75). He saw the Ford in a ditch off the northwest corner of the intersection with Rocha Mayo lying in the grass nearby, and then saw Bestwick prone in the street. (R133-54-55). Rocha Mayo was conscious and breathing, but unable to respond to questions. (R133-56-57). Bestwick, however, was completely unresponsive; both motorists were transported to the hospital. (R133-56-58). Officer Morton was instructed to get a blood sample from Bestwick to determine his level of intoxication, but was unable to do so. (R133-68-69).

Motorist Matthew Schultz had witnessed the accident, albeit from roughly two blocks back. (R133-157-187). Schultz had just turned onto westbound  $52^{nd}$  Street when he noticed, in his rearview mirror, the vehicles approaching at a high rate of speed. (R133-157-160). Two cycles then passed him in the right

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>There was some dispute over whether Bestwick suddenly turned in front of Rocha Mayo, or was already there, when he suddenly braked. (R133-171-173; R136-25).

lane, driving erratically at about 70-80 MPH as they moved about within their lanes, followed by a car at roughly the same speed. (R133-161-162, 165-166, 184). Schultz confirmed Bestwick tried to turn right onto Green Bay Road (though not from the dedicated right turn lane, but instead, the right lane in front of the car), when he was struck. (R133-171-173). Schultz further testified that after the accident, Walters came to a complete stop in the intersection, and then proceeded to look around from a vantage point where he could see both vehicles at a complete rest, and Bestwick lying in the street. (R133-183, 190-192). Schultz testified Bestwick then took off and fled southbound on Green Bay Road. (R133-183, 190-192).

Sadly, the accident proved fatal for Bestwick. Forensic pathologist Dr. Mary Mainland testified that Bestwick, who had not been wearing a helmet, died of blunt force trauma to the head, and was pronounced dead at 8:08 a.m. (R133-5, 15, 20). While *post mortem* toxicology reports revealed no alcohol in Bestwick's system, Dr. Mainland agreed that since Bestwick had received a massive blood transfusion (completely replacing all his blood), it was impossible to say whether any alcohol had been in his system at the time of the accident. (R133-26-39). Because of the blood transfusion, the only controlled substance found in Bestwick's system was midazolam, a sedative administered by hospital personnel.<sup>3</sup> (R133-26-27).

Rocha Mayo was transported to St. Catherine's Hospital and brought into the emergency room on a backboard and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The paramedic who attended to Bestwick at the accident scene agreed there could have been an odor of intoxicants on Bestwick, but said he would not have noticed it because he was busy attending to his injuries. (R133-75-76, 92).

wearing a cervical collar, with blood on his face due to facial injuries and bruising of his chest wall. (R133-107,138). Dr. William Falco suspected Rocha Mayo had possibly suffered a head injury, noting some memory loss and an inability to remember details of the accident. (R133-115). Rocha Mayo advised Dr. Falco he had consumed alcohol and, based on this statement and an odor of alcohol about Rocha Mayo's breath, the doctor directed Nurse Steven Edwards to take a Preliminary Breath Test (PBT). (R133-108-110). Nurse Edwards took a single sample which registered 0.086. (R133-111). Rocha Mayo was eventually discharged at 5:00 a.m. and, later that day, waived his *Miranda* rights and provided a full statement to Officer Gloria Gonzalez that largely was a synopsis of his trial testimony, consistent with the facts set forth above. (R133-116, 226-239).

#### B. Delayed And Flawed Reporting By The Cyclists.

In the wake of the accident, not one of the three surviving cyclists advised police they had witnessed the accident, or the events leading up to the accident. Walters, as previously noted, fled the scene of the accident. Martin and Shaunna, on the accident scene within five minutes, also both left without telling police what they had observed moments before the accident. (R132-172-173, 188). Whether it was because they were all intoxicated or had been the aggressors in the situation and first wanted to get their story straight (an opportunity they had at the hospital), they waited nearly 20 hours before deciding to talk to police. (R132-176-189). By that time, of course, they told much

different versions of the encounter with Rocha Mayo, and versions fraught with omissions and implausibilities.<sup>4</sup>

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