RECEIVED

01-13-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COURTOF WISCONSIN

No. 2011AP2548-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LUIS M. ROCHA-MAYO,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KENOSHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE WILBUR W. WARREN, III., PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SALLY L. WELLMAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1013419

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON A PERMISSIVE INFERENCE THAT IT WAS ENTITLED, BUT NOT REQUIRED, TO DRAW UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

At trial, the jury heard the result of the breath alcohol test administered by the hospital emergency room staff, as well as extensive expert testimony from both the State and the defense on the testing device used and the procedures used by the nurse in administering the test (133:110-11, 139-50; 134:101-86; 135:103-46).

Based on the evidence presented, the jury could find beyond a reasonable doubt that at the time the test was taken, there was .08 grams or more of alcohol in 210 liters of the defendant's breath (133:111). Rocha-Mayo does not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence. Based on the evidence presented, the trial court properly instructed the jury on a permissive inference the jury was entitled, but not required, to draw.

In the jury instructions on the elements of the offense of homicide by intoxicated use of a motor vehicle, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

The third element is the defendant was under the influence of an intoxicant at the time the defendant operated a vehicle.

"Under the influence of an intoxicant" means that the defendant's ability to operate a vehicle was materially impaired because of consumption of an alcoholic beverage.

Not every person who has consumed alcoholic beverages is "under the influence" as that term is used here. What must be established is that the person has consumed a sufficient amount of alcohol to cause the person to be less able to exercise the clear judgment and steady hand necessary to handle and control a motor vehicle.

It is not required that impaired ability to operate be demonstrated by particular acts of unsafe driving. What is required is that the person's ability to safely control the vehicle be materially impaired.

The law states that the alcohol concentration in a defendant's breath sample taken within three hours of operating a vehicle is evidence of the defendant's alcohol concentration at the time of the operating.

If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that there was .08 grams or more of alcohol in 210 liters of the defendant's breath at the time the test was taken, you may find that the defendant was under the influence of an intoxicant at the time of the alleged operating, but you are not required to do so. You, the jury, are here to decide this question on the basis of all the evidence in this case, and you should not find the defendant was under the influence of an intoxicant at the time of the alleged operating, unless you are satisfied of that fact beyond a reasonable doubt.

(136:167-69).

Rocha-Mayo claims the instruction should not have been given because the test device and procedure used by the emergency room nurse did not meet the requirements of the implied consent law and the test was qualitative rather than quantitative. This is essentially a rehash of his argument that the test result should not have been admitted. As the State has demonstrated in the argument sections above, the test result in this case was not qualitative rather than quantitative and it was not necessary for it to meet the requirements of the implied consent law because it was not administered pursuant to the implied consent law. Accordingly, Rocha-Mayo's challenge to the instruction fails for the same reasons that his challenge to the admissibility of the test result fails. The State will not unnecessarily repeat the arguments made above here.

The instruction properly stated only a permissive inference that the jury was entitled, but not required, to

draw from the evidence presented. The instruction was in no way mandatory.

The limited instruction given did not imbue the breath alcohol test given to Rocha-Mayo with a presumption of accuracy at all. Consistent with Wis. Stat. § 885.235, the instruction simply told the jury that if it was satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that there was .08 grams or more of alcohol in 210 liters of Rocha-Mayo's breath at the time the test was taken, then it could draw inference that he was under the influence of an intoxicant at the time of the alleged operating. The specific instruction in this case did not inform the jury that it could draw this inference based on the test result alone.

The instruction given in this case did not inform the jury that the testing device used in this case uses a scientifically sound method of measuring the alcohol concentration in an individual and that the State is not required to prove the underlying scientific reliability of the method used by the testing device. In this case, the jury did hear abundant expert testimony about the scientific reliability of the testing device used, and the protocol used by the emergency nurse, and counterevidence presented by the defense.

The instruction left it entirely to the jury to decide whether it was satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that there was .08 grams or more of alcohol in 210 liters of Rocha-Mayo's breath at the time of the test, based on all of the expert testimony it heard regarding the accuracy and reliability (or lack thereof) of the test device and procedures used in this particular case.

Rocha-Mayo asserts that under § 885.235, the permissive inference the jury was instructed on in this case can only be given when the test was qualitative as viewed by the administrative rules, and the test device and procedures used met all the requirements of the implied consent law. Rocha-Mayo cites no authority for his

assertion, nor is the State aware of any. The language of the statute does not contain that limitation.

Rocha-Mayo complains because the emergency room nurse who administered the breath alcohol test did not employ a twenty-minute waiting period to observe whether he vomited, belched, or drank alcohol during that time, which could introduce mouth alcohol into his sample. The jury was well informed by the testimony that a twenty-minute waiting period is required for law enforcement, the reasons for the waiting period and that there was no such waiting period observed here. There was also no evidence presented that, in fact, Rocha-Mayo did belch, vomit or drink alcohol between the time of the fatal crash and the time he took the breath alcohol test in the emergency room.

Rocha-Mayo complains that the emergency room nurse did not use a test sequence of two breaths as required for an admissible test under the implied consent law. However, the jury heard sufficient expert testimony on both sides to enable it to determine what weight, if any, to give to the result of the breath alcohol test administered to him at the hospital. Rocha-Mayo's complaints are not sufficient to render the limited permissive inference instruction given in his case improper.

The instruction given in this case was entirely permissive. It followed the definition of under the influence, and it concluded by specifically informing the jury that it was tasked with deciding whether Rocha-Mayo was under the influence of an intoxicant at the time of the operation of the vehicle based on all the evidence in the case and that it must not so find unless it was satisfied of that fact beyond a reasonable doubt. No reasonable juror could have believed that as a matter of law he must find defendant was operating his vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant if the juror found defendant had a certain breath alcohol level at the time of testing.

The instruction left it entirely to the jury to accept or reject the inference, and it did not shift the burden of proof to the defendant. Such a permissive inference is infirm only if under the facts of the case, there is no rational way a trier of fact could make the connection permitted by the inference. *State v. Vick*, 104 Wis. 2d 678, 695, 312 N.W.2d 489 (1981). There is a rational connection between the basic fact that the prosecution proved and the ultimate fact presumed if it can be said with substantial assurance that the ultimate fact is more likely than not to flow from the basic fact. *Vick*, 104 Wis. 2d at 695.

Here, the question is whether the presumed fact that the defendant was under the influence of an intoxicant at the time of the driving more likely than not flows from the proven fact that at the time of testing he had a breath alcohol level of .08. The presumed fact does more likely than not flow from the proven fact here. No evidence in the record, and no argument offered by Rocha-Mayo, suggests otherwise.

The trial court has wide discretion in issuing jury instructions based on the facts and circumstances of the particular case. *Vick*, 104 Wis. 2d at 690. The trial court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in giving the instruction in this case. The trial court here properly informed the jury of the law applicable to the case, and left the decision of which evidence to credit, and which inferences to draw, entirely to the jury.

For all of these reasons, this court must reject Rocha-Mayo's argument that the instruction given in this case was improper.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE **EMERGENCY** ROOM DOCTOR TO **TESTIFY** THAT IN HIS EXPERT OPINION. WHEN HE**OBSERVED** TREATED ROCHA-MAYO IN THE HOSPITAL EMERGENCY ROOM, ROCHA-MAYO WAS INTOXICATED.

At trial the State presented the expert testimony of Dr. William Falco, the hospital emergency room doctor who examined and treated Rocha-Mayo and who ordered the breath alcohol test administered to Rocha-Mayo. Dr. Falco had been an emergency room doctor for thirteen years during which time he had frequently treated patients suffering injuries from automobile accidents in which alcohol was involved (133:101). Alcohol can mask other injuries and make patients' verbal responses less reliable (133:102). Dr. Falco was on duty in the emergency room when Rocha-Mayo was brought in and he began to examine and ask Rocha-Mayo questions immediately upon his arrival (133:105). Rocha-Mayo spoke rapidly at first and was also talking on his cell phone to someone else very rapidly (133:106-07). Dr. Falco had difficulty getting Rocha-Mayo's attention and getting him to focus on the questions (133:107).

Dr. Falco and the emergency room nurse smelled alcohol on Rocha-Mayo's breath, and Rocha-Mayo told them he had been drinking at a bar, he came out of the bar and the accident happened shortly after he left the bar (133:108-09). The smell of alcohol was sufficiently strong combined with the information Rocha-Mayo provided about his drinking, that Dr. Falco felt compelled to order a check of Rocha-Mayo's alcohol level (133:109-10). Rocha-Mayo was also confused and could not remember many details of the accident (133:115). The result of the breath alcohol test was .086 (133:111).

Over defense objection, the State was allowed to ask and Dr. Falco was allowed to answer:

- Q. Doctor, over the 13 years where you had occasion to treat accident patients that have consumed alcohol, were you able to make a diagnosis of whether or not they were under the influence of alcohol?
- A. Yes, several times.
- Q. Do you believe you're qualified to in this case render that opinion?
- A. I do. I mean, I see intoxicated patients not in accidents pretty much on a daily basis that I'm --
- Q. And when you're looking at those patients, what are those things that you are looking at? What are the factors? What are the symptoms of alcohol intoxication?
- A. Well, their behavior; their -- you know, the -- obviously the smell of alcohol on their breath; their speech, the clarity of their speech; you know, if they had redness to their eyes; their ability to ambulate or, you know, walk with the steady gait, things like that.
- Q. And based upon your treatment, based on your experience and medical practice as an emergency room physician, and your contact and examination and assessment of this patient, Mr. Luis Rocha-Mayo, do you have an opinion as to his state of sobriety?
- A. I do.
- Q. And what is your opinion?

. . . .

THE WITNESS: I believe he was intoxicated at the time.

BY MR. ZAPF:

Q. And do you hold that opinion to a reasonable degree of scientific and medical certainty?

A. I do.

(133:118-19).

Wisconsin Stat. § 907.04 provides: "Opinion on ultimate issue. Testimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." Wis. Stat. § 907.04.

Rocha-Mayo concedes, as he must, that Dr. Falco's testimony was permissible under this statute. He nonetheless complains that Dr. Falco was allowed to improperly testify to an opinion that "embraced a legal concept for which a definitional instruction was required." Rocha-Mayo's brief at 44 (capitalization omitted). Rocha-Mayo's complaint is without merit.³

Dr. Falco never offered an opinion that at the time of operating Rocha-Mayo was under the influence of alcohol or under the influence of an intoxicant. He never offered an opinion that Rocha-Mayo had consumed a sufficient amount of alcohol to cause him to be less able to exercise the clear judgment and steady hand necessary to handle and control the vehicle. He never offered an opinion that Rocha-Mayo's ability to safely control the vehicle was materially impaired. Rather, he opined only that when he saw Rocha-Mayo in the emergency room, Rocha-Mayo was intoxicated (133:119; Pet-Ap. B6, ¶ 15).

Moreover, Rocha-Mayo omits the significant fact that Dr. Falco made it very clear in his testimony that he was not offering any opinion, and was not able to offer any opinion, regarding whether Rocha-Mayo was

³ Dr. Falco's opinion that Rocha-Mayo was intoxicated when he saw him in the emergency room is not comparable to the expert opinion testimony discussed as improper in the cases cited in Rocha-Mayo's brief, such as the opinion that an individual was negligent.

intoxicated or what his alcohol level was when he was operating the motor vehicle and when the accident occurred. Dr. Falco testified as follows on this point on cross-examination:

- Q. ... [Y]ou did not have an opportunity to see Mr. Rocha-Mayo operate a vehicle on that evening, correct?
- A. No, I did not.
- Q. So you have no independent basis for making a determination that he was intoxicated at the time that he operated the motor vehicle, correct?

THE COURT: I don't think the doctor was asked that question.

MR. CABRANES: Well, I'm asking him that question.

THE COURT: Okay. All right.

THE WITNESS: Well, that level is continuously fluctuating whether it's going up or going down as time was passing. So I can't say if that was coming down or going up at the time.

- Q. Right.
- A. So it could have been -- could it have been below at the time of the accident and it's going up from just recently drinking something and it's still metabolizing or could it have been coming down. I can't -- based on one result I can't make that determination.
- Q. Right, you can't -- there's something called a blood alcohol curve, are you familiar with that?
- A. Right.
- Q. And a blood alcohol curve, in order to plot a blood alcohol curve you need two points on the curve, correct?

- A. Correct.
- Q. And in this case we only have one, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And so, as you just testified to, if he had recently been drinking alcohol he might still be metabolizing some of that alcohol, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And so at the time that he was operating the motor vehicle, you can't state, because there's no way to state, what his blood alcohol level was when he was operating the motor vehicle.
- A. I cannot.

(133:129-31).

For all of these reasons, this court must reject Rocha-Mayo's claim that the trial court erred in allowing Dr. Falco to offer his opinion that Rocha-Mayo was intoxicated when he saw him in the emergency room after the crash.

IV. ANY ERROR IN THE INSTANT CASE WAS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Even if the trial court erred in allowing the jury to hear the result of the breath alcohol test given to Rocha-Mayo in the emergency room for purposes of treatment and diagnosis, in instructing the jury on the permissive inference that it could, but was not required to draw, and in allowing Dr. Falco to testify to his opinion that Rocha-Mayo was intoxicated when he saw him in the emergency room after the crash, the errors were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Dr. Falco and the emergency room nurse were properly allowed to describe Rocha-Mayo's condition to the jury and the fact that he smelled of alcohol and admitted drinking. Dr. Falco's opinion added no new information; it was merely a label for the condition he had described.

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